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mlniteb ~tates IHstrict QCourt 
FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

VENUE: SAN FRANCISCO 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

v. 

PATRICK ADEBOWALE SOGBEIN, ADEBOLA 
ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE, EDNA CALAUSTRO, 

EDUARDO ABAD, and MELE SAAVEDRA, 

DEFENDANT(S). 

INDICTMENT 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1349 and 2- Conspiracy to Commit Health Cara Fraud; 
18 U.S.C §§ .371 and 2. Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks; 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2 - Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting; 
18 U.S.C. § 982 and 21 U.S.C. § 853 - Criminal Forfeiture Allegation 

A true bill. 

Filed in open court this 19 f1i. day of 

:vlaria Elena James 
United States Chief Magistrate Judge 

·: ~-'· 

~'-~·-. 
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AO 257 (~ev. 6178) ··-- -----·----

L_ __ __QEF_~r-iQ~NT INFQ~_~ATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL A~TION - IN u.'.~:. 01si_:~1cr CQ_l!RI~ 
BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION D INDICTMENT 

__ _,,lll,., .. _s_UPERSEDIN_Cl 
··--·- OFFENSE CHARGED -· -

CNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Conspiracy to 
Engage in Health Care Fraud; CNT 2, 18 U.S.C. D Petty 
§ 371 - Consp. to Receive and Pay Health Care 0 Minor 
Kickbacks:CNTS3-ll,18U.S.C§§l347and2 D Misdo­
- Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 

171 
meaner 

l.t.I Felony 

,·- Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Maglatrato Location ] 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

'------------ ·------ . -. 

'PENALTY: I 
CR 12-0054 JSW 

1 

See Auachment A 

-· .,. -- . . ........ -·---·-) 
! 

,. .. ---· ·--·-.. ·-- PROCEEDING 

Name of Complalntant AQencv. or Person (&Title, If any) 
Federal Bureuu oflnve.~tigalion I Office of Inspector Gcncl'lll, Dcpaitmcnt <Jf Hc1d!h and 

Human Services. 

D person Is awaiting trial In another Federal or State 
Court. give name of court 

this parson/proceeding Is transferred from another 
0 district per (circle one) FRCrP 20, 21 or 40. Show 

District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D 
charges previous1y dismissed 
which were dismissed on 

I 
1notion of: 
0 U.S. Att'y D Defense 

SHOW 

} DOCKETNO. 

D pending case involving this same I 
this prosecution relates to a 

defendant MAGISTRATE 
I prior proceedings or appearance(s)' CASE NO. · D before U.S. Magistrate regarding I 
· this defendant were recorded unde ~ 

-------·-·--- ··-·· .. -··-·--- . ----------·-
Name and Office of Person 
Fumlshlng Jnrarmatlon on Melinda Haag 

THIS FORM _____ ___c._ ______ _ 

Iii U.S. Atry D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Asst. U.S. Att'y 
(if assigned) Denise Marie BartonfRandy Luskey 

· · ........ -- DEFENDANT --

IS NOT IN CUSTODY I 
D 

Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding_ I 
1) If not detained give date any prtor summon..._ i 

was :;erved on above charges -" ~ 

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) Iii Is on Bail or Release from (show Distrtct) 

Northern District of California 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) D On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction 
S) D 1-\.wamng 1na1 an otner 

rhArnpc 
} 0 Fed'I 0 State 

If answer to (6) is 11Yes11
, show name of Institution 

_________ ,,,,,_,," -------

Has detainer 
been filed? 

DATE OF 
ARREST 

D Yes } 
D No 

lf "Yes" 
give date 
flied 

• Month/Day/Year 

Or ... If Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED • 
TO U.S. CUSTODY 

Month/Day/Year 

-- . ··-·- __ ,, __ _,) 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

· ---- . -· ---ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS--------- _____ 

1 PROCESS: 

0 SUMMONS !lJ NO PROCESS• 0 WARRANT Ball Amount: 

If Summons, complete following: 1 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance •IMJare defendant previously apprehf1nded on complaint, na now summons 
or warrant needed, since Magislrate hos schadulad arraignment 

Defendant Address: 

DatefTime: 
-------~------

I Before Judge: --------------l Comments: 
·-·--··---------------_-_-,_--------------------------·===-=----------.--... -.. -._-___ ~ 
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ATTACHMENT A 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U .S.C. § 3 71, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
. 10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release; $100 
special assessment 

EDNA CALAUSTRO 

COUNT l, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of$250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
I 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDUARDO ABAD 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks• 
5 years imprisonment, fine of$250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

i 
·j 
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COUNTS 4-5, 10-12, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
I 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/Joss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

MELE SAAVEDRA 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § I 349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
I 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/Joss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3, 6-9, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
JO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/Joss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 
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l~~
5

ci~~~~Q~Nf INFQRMATION R~LATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.~~ Dl~'!B~~Q_l!!!.U 
BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION Ill INDICTMENT ,-

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
Name of District Court, and/or Judgo/Magl1trato Loeatlon .. 

1 Ill SUPERSEDING 
... ---- OFFENSE CHARGED ------ --

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Conspiracy to 
Engage in Health Care Fraud; COUNTS 3-l l, 
18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; 

. Aiding and Abetting 

0 Petty 

0 Minor 

D Misde-
meanor 

IZJ .Felony 

·PENALTY: 

See Attachment A 

··----· ·---=· ===== 
( ·----··--·-····-· PROCEEDING -

Name of Complaintanl Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 
F<!dcra! Burcou of Investigation/ Office oflnspccfor Gcncml, DcpurlmcntofHcnllh nnd 

Human Scrvit:cs 

D person Is awaiting trial In another Federal or Slate 
Court, give name of court 

this parson/proceeding Is transferred from another 0 district per (circle one) FRCrP 20, 21 or 40. Show 
District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on SHOW 
motion of: 
D U.S. All'y D Defense 

this prosecution relates to a 0 pending case involving this same 
defendant 

} DOCKETNO. 

prior proceedings or appearance(•) 0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding · i. 
this defendant were recorded under" 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

'---·--- ·-·-·----- ----=== 
Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on Melinda Haag 

THIS FORM ·-·---·-·-'---- ___ _ 
0 U.S. Atl'y D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Asst. U.S. Alfy 
{If assigned) Denise Marie Bar!un/Ra11dy Luskey 

- ~ ... 

(- DEFENDANT. U.S. ··-·----·---

• ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

CR 12-0054 JSW 

-·-·-· - .............. __ ···_) 
· · ... - ··-·-DEFENDANT----·--·-

IS NOT IN CUSTODY . II 
D 

Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding, 
1) If not detained give date any prior summonsit.. 

was served on above charges ~ ----
2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 ·is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

Northern District of California 
-------------·-·----

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) D On this charge 

5) D · On another conviction 
SJ D f\Wamng tna1 on otner 

l"lu:irn.:i.c:. 
} 0 Fed'I D State 

If answer to (6) Is "Yes", show name of Institution 

Has detainer 
been flied? 

D Yes } 
D No 

If MYes11 

give dale 
filed 

DATE OF 
ARREST • Month/Day/Year 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED • 
TO U.S .. CUSTODY 

Month/DaylYear 

------·----===-=-=--:-::-... ::::: ... -=-·-=···- -
0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

. ·--·-···-·· ----· · ---··ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS~- --~­
PROCESS: 

·~---·-1 

D SUMMONS IZJ NO PROCESS• D WARRANT Bail Amount: 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment D Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

*Where defendant previously appreh&ndad on complaint, no new summons 
er warrant noedad, !Jlnca Magistrate has schedfJ!Bd arrai('Jnmant 

Date/Time: 

Bofore Judge: 
-------~~-----

[_ --····· Comme~ts_: :::_-::._-_-_-.-. ------------------------------.--.. -_.-.. ------·· 



i 
(' ( 

Case 4:12-cr-OOuci4-JSW Document 249 Filed 09/191~.3 Page 6 of 27 

ATTACHMENT A 

PATPJCK ADEBOWALE SOGBEIN 

COUNT l, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
JO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
JO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $J 00 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
l 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
spedal assessment · 

EDNA CALAUSTRO 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
JO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT2, 18 U.S,C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of$250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 speciaf 
assess1nent 

COUNTS 3-l l, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss,lyearssupervised release,_$100 _ 
special assessment 

EDUARDO ABAD 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § J349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
JO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment · 

COUNT2, JS U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 special 
assessment 
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COUNTS 4-5, 10-12, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
speciaJ assessment 

MELE SAAVEDRA 

COUNT\, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3, 6-9, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
I 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 
special assessment . 
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AO 257 (8ev. 61781 ______ .. 

L. __ DEFE~f.>f.NT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN u.s_. D~S.TRICT CO_URT-==i 

BY; 0 COMPLAINT D INFORMATION IZJ INDICTMENT ,-- Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Mag_l•_tr_•t_•_L_oca_ll_on_-.. 

1 1ZJ SUPERSEDING NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

[ 
.. ----- OFFENSE CHARGED -··- \ • __ _ 

. COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Conspiracy io . DEFENDANT US 
Engage in Health Care Fraud; CNT 2, 18 U.S.C. D Polty :-- • · • 
§ 371 -Consp. to Receive and Pay Health Care 0 Minor .. -·--------------------
Kickbacks; CNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and D Misdo- .. _E_D_N_A_C_A_L_A_U_S_TR_O ____________ _ 
2 - Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting VI meanor 

~ re!ony 

·PENALTY: 
See Attachment A 

··----··· -----·-===:::: r·----... ---- --- PROCEEDING 
i Name of Complalntant Agency, or Person (&Title, If any) 
I Fedcrol Elurcau of lnvcstigulion/ Office ofln~pci;;1or Gen~rnl, Deparlmc111 of Health 11nd 

Human Service~ 

D person is awaiting trial In another Federal or Slate 
Court, give name of court 

this person/proceeding Is transferred from another 
0 district per (circle one) FRCrP 20, 21 or 40. Show 

District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on 
motion of: 
0 U.S. Alt'y D Defense 

this prosecution relates to a 

SHOW 
} DOCKETNO. 

0 pending case involving this same 
j defendant 
1 prior proceedings or appearance(•) .. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. ' D before U.S. Magistrate regarding " 

1 this defendant were recorded under 
I 
'-------·-· 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on Melinda Haag 

THIS FORM _________ ----
liJ U.S. Att'y 0 other U.S. Agency 

Name of Ass!. U.S. Atfy 
(lf assigned) Denise Marie Barton/Randy Luskey 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

CR 12-0054 JSW 

---·-----.. -·- ...... : ... _ .. __ _) 

... ---- DEFENDANT ----------.... 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 1 
D 

Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 
1 1) If not detained give date any prior summonsi.. 

was served on above charges ~ 
-----1 

2) 0 Is a Fuglllve 

3) IZJ Is on Bail or Release from (show Dialrict) 

Northern District of California 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction 
S) 0 Rwanu1g 1na1 on otner 

t"'hr::1rn,:.c 
} 0 Fed'I D State 

If answer to (6) Is "Yes•, show name of Institution 

Has detainer 
been tiled? 

D Yes } 
0 No 

lf"Yas" 
give date 
filed 

DATE OF 
ARREST • Month/Day/Year 

Or ... If Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED • 
TO U.S. CUSTODY 

Month/Day/Year 

-----=====~==== 
0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

, ·-· ..... -- .. ____ .... _______ ·----.. ADDITIONAL INFORMATIO. NOR COMMENTS-------·--·-- "·--·--1 
i PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS IZJ NO PROCESS• D WARRANT Bail Amount: . 

If Summons, complete fallowing: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

"Where defendant previously approhanderJ on complaint, no new summons 
of warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Daternrne: 
---------~----

Before Judge: --------------
Comments: 



·Case 4:12-cr-olvo4-JSW Document 249 Filed 09/1£,~.:! Page 9 of 27 

ATTACHMENT A 

PATRICKADEBOWALE SOGREIN 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessm1mt 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
IO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDNA CALAUSTRO 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
I 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDUARDO ABAD 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
IO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of$250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 
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COUNTS 4-5, 10-12, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessinent 

MELE SAAVEDRA 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3, 6-9, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 
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AO 257 (Bev. 61761 -----·-· ----------------------------

[ __ ,_, DEFE~.QANT INFOR_MATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S:.Dl~!RICT CO_URT =1 
BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION lZJ INDICTMENT ~ Name of District Court, and/or Judge/MagJ1trate Location - I 

lZJ SUPERSEDING ,-._ NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA __j 
,.------- OFFENSE CHARGED -- -- _ 

CNT l, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Consp. to Engage in DEFENDANT US 
HealthCareFraud:CNT2.18U.S.C§37l- D Patty r- . . .. --------------------1 
Consp. to Receive and Pay Health Care 0 Mi11or • 
Kickbacks; CNTS 4-5, 10-12, 18 U.S.C. §§1347 0 Misdo- EDUARDO ABAD . 
and 2 - Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting meanor 

llJ Felony 

. ·PENALTY: 
Sec Attachment A 

_, 
, .. ---------. . .... ~ PROCEEDING ] 
' Name of Complaintant AQency, or Person (&Title, If any) 

f'ctlcral Bureau oflnvcstigaticin I Office oflnspcctqr General, Department of Health and 

Human Scrvioos 

D person is awaiting trial In another Federal or Slate 
Court, give name of court 

this person/proceeding Is transferred from another D <;listrict per (circle one) FRCrP 20, 21 or 40. Show 
. District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on 
motion ol: 
0 U.S. Alt'y 0 Defehse 

SHOW 

\ 

this prosecution relates to a 0 pending case involving this same 
defendant 

} 

DOCKET NO. 

-·-----

1 prior proceedings or appearance(s)) 
MAGISTRATE 

CASE NO. ' D before U.S. Magistrate regarding 
' this defendant were recorded unde 
I 
"--~----- ---·-·------

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on Melinda Haag 

THIS FORM -·-------------

' 

[Zl U.S. Alt'y D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Asst. U.S. Att'y 
(if assigned) Denise Marie Barton/Randy Luskey 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

CR 12-0054 JSW 

l._ - ---- ... ____ _; 

( - - -- --- DEFENDANT --------

IS NOT IN CUSTODY ~ 
D 

Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 
1) If not detained give date any prior summonsj. 

was seived on above charges "' ---
2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) IZJ Is on Bail or Release from (show District} 

Northern District of California 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction 
G) D Awan1ng tna1 on 01ner 

rhcirn#'~ . 
} 0 Fed'I 0 State 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of Institution 

---------·····-·· ·- -------·--··-

Has detainer 
been flied? 

0 Yes } 
D No 

lf"Yes11 

give dale 
filed 

DATE OF 
ARREST • Month/DaylY ear 

or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 
Month/Day/Year 

DATE TRANSFERRED. 
TO U.S. CUSTODY · 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

------··--------·----.. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS-.---------------·--
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS Ill NO PROCESS· 

If Summons, complete fOllowing: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

D WARRANT Bail Amount: 

•whuro defendant previously apprehended on complllint, no now summons 
or warr~nl needed, s/nr;o Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: 
-------~~~----

Before Judge: 
------~------~ l Comments: 

---·----- --------- __ -_:-_-_-_---.-_ - .. -__ -_-__ -_-__ -_,,-_,.-__ -_-.-_-_-_-___ -_-_-__ -__ -:_-::_-::_-::_-:_-:_-::_-::_-::_-::_--------------____ _,, 
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ATTACHMENT A 

PA TRICK > ... DEBOW ft.LE SOGBE!N 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of$250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
l 0 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 134 7 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDNA CALAUSTRO 

COUNT 1, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine _of twice· the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonmen~ fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDUARDO ABAD 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 3 71, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $1 00 special 
assessment 
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COUNTS 4-5, 10-12, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assess1nent 

MELE SAAVEDRA 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care fraud 
JO years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3, 6-9, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 
special assessment 
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1 
NO PROCESS• 0 WARRANT Sail Amount: · 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

'*Where defendant previously apprahandad on complaint, no new .summons 
or WB(}'ant naadad, since Magistrate hlls scheduled alT'Bfgnment 

Date!Time: 

Comments: --------------
Before Judge: J. 

. --.-··~------ ___ -_-_-_-_-__ -----------------_ -_ -_ -_ -_ -_:-_:-_ -~---=--=-----_-------~---·=========---__ _ 



Case 4:12-cr-od0.A-JSW Document 249 Filed 09/19L.., Page 15 of 27 

ATTACHMENT A 

PATRICK ADEBOW ALE SOGBEIN 

COUNT l, 18 U .S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, tine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNT2, 18 U.S.C. § 371 •. Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, tine of$250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-l l, 18 U.S.C, §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
l 0 years imprisonment, tine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $ l 00 
special assessment 

ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDNA CALAUSTRO 

COUNT l, 18 U.S.C, § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 3 71, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, tine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 special 
assessment 

COUNTS 3-11, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
l 0 years imprisonment, tine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

EDUARDO ABAD 

COUNT I, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
I 0 years imprisonment, tine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $I 00 
special assessment 

COUNT 2, 18 U.S.C. § 371, Conspiracy to Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks 
5 years imprisonment, fine of $250,000, 3 years supervised release, $100 special 
assessment 
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COUNTS 4-5, 10-12, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

MELE SAAVEDRA 

COUNT l, 18 U.S.C. § 1349, Conspiracy to Engage in Health Care Fraud 
10 years imprisoi1ment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 

COUNTS 3, 6-9, 18 U.S.C. §§ I 347 and 2, Health Care Fraud; Aiding and Abetting 
10 years imprisonment, fine of twice the gross gain/loss, 3 years supervised release, $100 
special assessment 
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7 

MELINDA HAAG (CABN 132612) 
United States Attorney 

8 

9 

10 

UNITED ST ATES DISTRJCT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

ll UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA, 

12 Plaintiff, 

13 v. 

14 PATRJCKADEBOWALE SOGBEIN, 
AD EBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE, 

15 EDNA CALAUSTRO, 
EDUARDO ABAD, and 

16 MELE SAAVEDRA, 

17 Defendants. 

18 

19 

l 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

~ 

CR No. 12-0054 JSW 

VIOLATIONS: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1349 and 2-
Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud; 
18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 2 - Conspiracy to 
Receive and Pay Health Care Kickbacks; 18 
U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2- Health Care Fraud; 
Aiding and Abetting; 18 U.S.C. § 982 and 
21 U.S.C. § 853- Criminal Forfeiture 
Allegation 

SAN FRANCISCO VENUE 

20 SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

2 l The Grand Jury charges: 

22 INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS 

2 3 At all times relevant to this Superseding Indictment: 

24 The Medicare Program 

25 1. The Medicare Program ("Medicare") was a federal program that provided free or 

2 6 below-cost health care benefits to certain individuals, primarily the elderly, blind, and disabled. 

2 7 The benefits available under Medicare were prescribed by statute and by federal regulations 

2 a under the auspices of the United States Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS"), 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 
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1 through its agency, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"). Individuals who 

2 received benefits under Medicare were commonly referred to as Medicare "beneficiaries." Each 

3 Medicare beneficiary is issued a unique Medicare claim number. 

4 2. Medicare was a "health care benefit program," as defined by Title 18, United 

5 States Code, Section 24(b ). 

6 3. Part B of the Medicare Program was a medical insurance program that covered, 

7 among other things, certain durable medical equipment ("DME"), including power wheelchairs 

8 ("PWCs"). 

9 4. For California beneficiaries, Medicare Part B insurance covering DME and related 

10 health care benefits, items, and services was administered by Noridian Administrative Services, 

11 LLC ("Noridian"), pursuant to a contract with CMS. Among Noridian's responsibilities, it 

12 received, evaluated, and paid the claims submitted to it by Medicare beneficiaries and suppliers 

13 of health care items and services. 

14 5. Under Medicare's rules and regulations, a licensed medical professional or entity 

15 seeking to participate in and bill the Medicare program (a Medicare provider) had to apply for a 

16 national provider identifier ("NP!"). DME companies, physicians, and other health care 

1 7 providers that sought to participate in Medicare Part B and bill Medicare for the cost ofDME and 

18 related benefits, items, and services, were required to obtain a supplier number. The supplier 

19 number allowed a DME company to submit claims for reimbursement to Medicare for the cost of 

2 O DME and related items and services it supplied to beneficiaries. 

21 6. To receive payment from Medicare, a DME company, using its supplier number, 

2 2 would submit a health insurance claim form to a Medicare contractor. Medicare permitted DME 

23 companies to submit a claim electronically or in hard copy. Medicare required DME companies 

24 to provide certain information, including: (a) the Medicare beneficiary's name; (b) the Medicare 

25 beneficiary's identification number; (c) the name and identification number of the doctor who 

2 6 ordered the item or service that was the subject of the claim; (d) the health care benefits, items, or 

2 7 services provided to the beneficiary; ( e) the billing codes for those benefits, items, or services; 

2 8 and (f) the date upon which the benefits, items, or services were provided. 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 2 
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1 7. Medicare, through Noridian, would generally pay a portion, usually 80%, of the 

2 cost of the DME and related health care items and services if they were deemed medically 

3 necessary and ordered by a licensed doctor or other qualified health care provider. The 

4 remaining cost, generally 20%, known as the "co-pay," was typically paid by a secondary 

5 insurance plan, by state health care programs, or by the Medicare beneficiary. Payments under 

6 Medicare Part B were often made directly to the DME company. For this to occur, the 

7 beneficiary would assign the rightof payment to the DME company or other health care provider. 

a Once such an assignment took place, the DME company or other health care provider would 

9 assume the responsibility for submitting claims to, and receiving payments from, Medicare. 

10 8. Medicare providers agreed to abide by all Medicare laws, regulations, and 

• 11 program instructions, and not to present or cause to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for 

12 payment by Medicare or to submit claims with deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of their 

13 truth or falsity. Medicare providers also agree that payment of a claim by Medicare is 

14 conditioned upon the claim and the underlying transaction complying with such Medicare laws, 

15 regulations, and program instructions, including but not limited to, the Federal anti-kickback 

16 statute, and on the provider's compliance with all the applicable conditions of participation in 

1 7 Medicare. 

18 Background of the Defendants 

19 9. PATRICK ADEBOW ALE SOGBEIN (SOGBEIN) and ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE 

2 O ADEBIMPE (ADEBIMPE) were married and lived together in Santa Clarita, California. 

21 SOGBEIN was the owner and operator of Debs Medical Distributors, Inc. (Debs), a DME 

22 company located in Van Nuys, California. ADEBIMPE was the owner and operator of Dignity 

2 3 Medical Supply LLC (Dignity), a DME company located in Santa Clarita, California. Both Debs 

2 4 and Dignity had Medicare P!Ns and supplier numbers and were eligible to receive payments from 

2 5 Medicare for DME supplied to beneficiaries. SOGBEIN, on behalf of Debs, and ADEBIMPE, 

2 6 on behalf of Dignity, supplied PW Cs and accessories, including armrests, elevating leg rests, and 

2 7 reclining back rests to Medicare beneficiaries in the San Francisco area and billed and received 

2 8 payment from Medicare for those PWCs and accessories. 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 3 
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1 10. Dr. EDNA CALAUSTRO, a resident of San Francisco, California, was a licensed 

2 physician in the state of California who owned and worked at the Health Haven Medical Clinic 

3 in San Francisco, California. CALAUSTRO was enrolled as a Medicare physician, was assigned 

4 a PIN, and was eligible to receive payments from Medicare. CALAUSTRO wrote prescriptions 

5 for PW Cs and accessories for Medicare beneficiaries in the San Francisco area and provided 

6 those prescriptions to SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE, knowing that SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE, 

7 acting on behalf of Debs and Dignity, billed and received payments from Medicare based on 

8 those prescriptions. 

9 11. EDUARDO ABAD and MELE SAAVEDRA were residents of San Francisco, 

10 California. ABAD and SAAVEDRA worked as recruiters for CALAUSTRO, SOGBEIN, and 

1.1 ADEBIMPE to find Medicare beneficiaries who would be eligible to receive a PWC. 

12 OVERVIEW OF THE CONSPIRACIES AND SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

13 12. Beginning no later than on or about December 9, 2006, and continuing through at 

14 least July 26, 2011, the defendants conspired to defraud Medicare by fraudulently prescribing 

15 PWCs to Medicare beneficiaries who did not need them, and in many cases, who did not even 

16 want them, in order to enrich themselves. As part of the conspiracies and scheme to defraud, the· 

17 defendants (1) recruited Medicare beneficiaries to receive the PW Cs; (2) prepared false and 

1 S fraudulent documentation to support claims to Medicare for PW Cs and accessories; (3) paid and 

19 received cash kickbacks for identification of Medicare beneficiaries and for writing prescriptions· 

20 for PWCs and accessories (4) submitted over $2.4 million in false and fraudulent claims to 

21 Medicare for PWCs and accessories that were based 011 transactions that did not comply with the 

2 2 Medicare laws, regulations, and program instructions and that were not eligible for payment 

2 3 under Medicare rules and regulations; and (5) received and used the proceeds of the fraud for 

2 4 their own personal benefit and for the use and benefit of others. 

25 II 

2 6 II 

27 II 

28 II 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 4 
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1 MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACIES AND SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

2 13. SOGBEIN, as a sole proprietor and on behalf of Debs, and ADEBIMPE, on behalf 

3 of Dignity, enrolled as Medicare providers and obtained NPis and supplier numbers to submit 

4 claims for payment to Medicare. 

5 14. SOGBEIN paid and CALAUSTRO accepted cash in exchange for her preparation 

6 of prescriptions for PW Cs for Medicare beneficiaries and other documents required by Medicare. 

7 CALAUSTRO knew that SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE needed those prescriptions in order to 

B submit false and fraudulent claims to Medicare on behalf of the beneficiaries receiving PW Cs. 

9 15. SOGBEIN and CALAUSTRO paid ABAD and SAAVEDRA cash for referring 

1 o Medicare beneficiaries in whose names SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE submitted false and 

11 fraudulent claims to Medicare for PWCs. 

12 16. SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE knowingly prepared, and caused to be prepared, false 

13 and fraudulent documentation in support of the claims submitted to Medicare for PWCs and 

14 accessories. 

15 17. SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE knowingly submitted claims to Medicare for PWCs 

16 and accessories knowing that the claims did not did not comply with the Medicare laws, 

17 regulations, and program instructions, including but not limited to, the Federal anti-kickback 

18 statute. 

19 18. Between December 9, 2006, and July 26, 2011, SOGBEIN and ADEBIMPE 

2 O submitted over $2.4 million in false and fraudulent Medicare claims for PW Cs. 

21 19. Between January 17, 2007, and July 26, 2011, SOGBEIN, in his individual 

22 capacity and on behalf of Debs, and ADEBIMPE, on behalf of Dignity, received over of$1.2 

23 million in payments from Medicare as a result of the false and fraudulent claims they submitted. 

24 COUNT ONE: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1349 and 2 - Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud) 

25 20. The allegations of Paragraphs One through Nineteen of this Indictment are 

2 6 re-alleged and incorporated as if set forth fully here. 

27 

28 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 5 
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1 21. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury, but no later than on or about 

2 December 9, 2006, and continuing through at least July 26, 2011, both dates being approximate 

3 and inclusive, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants •. 

4 PATRICKADEBOWALE SOGBEIN, 
ADEBOLA ADEFUNKE ADEBIMPE, 

5 EDNA CALAUSTRO, 
EDUARDO ABAD, and 

6 MELE SAAVEDRA, 

7 and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly conspire and agree with one 

8 another to execute, and to attempt to execute, a material scheme and artifice (1) to defraud a 

9 health care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, 

10 Section 24(b), namely, Medicare, and (2) to obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent 

11 pretenses, representations, and promises, money owned by and under the custody and control of 

12 Medicare, all in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items,.and 

13 services, in violation of Title I 8, United States Code, Section 1347. 

14 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 2. 

15 
COUNT TWO: (18 U.S.C. §§ 371and2- Conspiracy to Solicit and Receive Kickbacks 

16 Involving a Federal Health Care Program) 

17 22. The allegations of Paragraphs One through Nineteen of this Indictment are 

18 re-alleged and incorporated as if set forth fully here, 

19 23. Beginning on a date unknown to the Grand Jury, but no later than on or about 

2 o December 9, 2006, and continuing through at least Juiy 26, 2011, both dates being approximate 

21 and inclusive, in the Northern District ofCaliforn.ia and elsewhere, the defendants 

22 

23 

24 

PATRICK ADEBOWALE SOGBEIN, 
EDNA CALAUSTRO, 

EDUARDO ABAD, and 
MELE SAAVEDRA, 

25 and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did willfully and knowingly conspire and 

2 6 agree to commit an offense against the United States by knowingly and willfully soliciting, 

27 receiving, offering, and paying remuneration, specifically cash kickbacks, directly and indirectly, 

28 overtly and covertly, in return for referring an individual to a person for the furnishing and 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 6 
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1 arranging for the furnishing of any item and service for which payment may be made in whole or 

2 in part by a federal health care program, namely Medicare, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-

3 7b(b)(l)(A) and 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A). 

4 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371and2. 

s OVERT ACTS COMMITTED IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

6 24. In furtherance of the conspiracy alleged in Count Two and to accomplish its 

7 purpose and object, at least one of the conspirators committed, or caused to be committed, in the 

8 Northern District of California, the following overt acts, among others: 

9 25. On dates between December 9, 2006, and continuing through at least July 26, 

10 2011, SOGBEIN offered to pay and did pay CALAUSTRO, ABAD, and SAAVEDRA 

11 remuneration, specifically cash kickbacks, in return for locating Medicare beneficiaries and 

12 preparing and providing prescriptions for PWCs and preparing other documents required by 

13 Medicare for which payment was made in whole or in part by Medicare. 

14 26. On dates between December 9, 2006 and continuing through at least July 26, 

15 2011, CALAUSTRO, SAAVEDRA, and ABAD did solicit and receive remuneration, 

16 specifically cash kickbacks, from SOGBEIN in return for locating Medicare beneficiaries and 

l 7 preparing and providing prescriptions for PW Cs and preparing other documents required by 

18 Medicare for which payment was made in whole or in part by Medicare. 

19 27. On or about December 16, 2011, CALAUSTRO and SAAVEDRA met with C.R. 

2 o and F.R., husband and wife, and obtained their Medicare identification numbers, numbers that 

21 are used to submit claims to Medicare. 

22 28. On or about December 20, 2011, CALAUSTRO signed prescriptions for PW Cs 

2 3 for C.R. and F.R. that were supplied by Dignity. 

24 29. On or about January 4, 2011, SOGBEIN delivered the PWCs to C.R. and F.R. 

25 30. On or about March 30, 2011, CALAUSTRO and ABAD met with L.H. and 

2 6 obtained her Medicare identification number. 

27 31. On or about April 4, 2011, CALAUSTRO signed a prescription for a PWC for 

2 8 L.H. that was supplied by Dignity. 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 7 
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32. 

33. 

On or about April 28, 2011, ABAD delivered the PWC to L.H.'s home. 

On or about April 25, 2011, CALAUSTRO ri1et with C.L. and obtained his 

3 Medicare identification number. 

4 34. On or about April 30, 2011, CALAUSTRO signed prescriptions for aPWC for 

s C.L. that was supplied by Dignity. 

6 35. On or about May 7, 2011, ABAD received C.L.'s PWC from SOGBEIN and 

7 ABAD thereafter gave C.L. the PWC. 

a 36. On or about April 26, 2011, CALAUSTRO met with Z.L. and ootained her 

9 Medicare claim number. 

10 37. On or about April 30, 2011, CALAUSTRO signed prescriptions for a PWC for 

11 Z.L. that was supplied by Dignity. 

12 

13 

38. On or about May 7, 2011, SOGBEIN delivered the PWC to Z.L. 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH TWELVE: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2-Health Care Fraud & 
14 Aiding and Abetting) 

15 39. The allegations of Paragraphs One through Nineteen of this Indictment are re-

16 alleged and incorporated herein as if set forth fully here. 

17 40. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Northern District of California, the 

1 a defendants specified below did knowingly and intentionally execute and attempt to execute a 

19 material scheme and artifice (1) to defraud a health care benefit program affecting commerce, as 

2 O defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), namely, Medicare, and (2) to obtain, by · 

21 means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money owned 

22 by and under the custody and control of Medicare, all in connection with the delivery of and 

2 3 payment for health care benefits, items, and services, and did for the purpose of executing and 

24 attempting to execute said fraudulent scheme, knowingly and willfully submit and cause to be 

2 s submitted to Medicare, and to be paid by Medicare, the following false and fraudulent claims for 

26 PWCs: 

27 // 

28 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 8 
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1 

2 

3 3 SOGBElN, A.V. Dignity $4,500 11/20/08 $3,218.96 
ADEBIMPE, 

4 CALAUSTRO, 
SAAVEDRA 

'5 
4 SOGBEIN, M.C. Dignity $4,500 4114110 $2,913.12 

6 ADEBJMPE, and 
CALAUSTRO, Debs 

7 ABAD 

5 SOGBEIN, v.c. Dignity $4,500 2119/10 $2,894.16 
8 ADEBIMPE, and 

CALAUSTRO, Debs 
9 ABAD 

10 6 SOGBEIN, J.V. Dignity $4,500 8/21/09 $2,913.12 
ADEBIMPE, 

11 CALAUSTRO, 
SAAVEDRA 

12 
7 SOGBEIN, E.M. Dignity $4,500 3/5/2010 $2,789.12 

13 ADEBIMPE, 
CALAUSTRO, 

14 SAAVEDRA 

15 8 SOGBElN, C.R. Dignity $6,160 3111/2011- $2,005. 13 
ADEBIMPE, (total)/ 7 7122/2011 (total)/ 3 

16 CALAUSTRO, claims for payments of 
SAAVEDRA $880 $435.55 and 4 

17 payments of 
$174.62 

18 9 SOGBEIN, F.R. Dignity $6,125 2/8/1 l- $1,995.02 

19 
ADEBlMPE, (total)/ 7 7/22/11 (total)/ 3 
CALAUSTRO, claims for payments of 

20 
SAAVEDRA $875 $433.70 and 4 

payments of· 

21 
$173.48 

10 SOGBEIN, L.H. Dignity $2,640 5/19/11- $1,637.07 
22 ADEBIMPE, (total)/ 3 7/20/11 (total)/ 3 

CALAUSTRO, claims for payments of 
23 ABAD $880 $545.69 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 9 
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11 SOGBEIN, C.L. 
ADEBIMPE, 
CALAUSTRO, 
ABAD 

12 SOGBEIN, Z.L 
ADEBIMPE, 
CALAUSTRO, 
ABAD 

Dignity 

Dignity 

$2,640 
(total) I 3 
claims for 
$880 

$2,625 
(total) I 3 
claims for 
$875 

5/23/11-
7 /20/l I 

5/23/11-
7120/11 

$1,637.07 
(total) 13 
payments of 
$545.69 

$1,301.10 
(total) I 3 
payments of 
$433.70 

8 Each in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 134 7 and 2. 

9 FORFEITURE ALLEGATION: (18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(7) - Health Care Fraud Forfeiture) 

10 41. The factual allegations contained in Paragraphs One through Forty are realleged 

11 and incorporated as if fully set forth here for the purpOS\! of alleging forfeiture pursuant to Title 

12 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7). 

13 42. Upon a conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Counts One through Twelve, 

14 the defendants, 

15 PATRICKADEBOWALESOGBEIN, 
ADEBOLA ADEBIMPE, 

16 EDNA CALAUSTRO, 
EDUARDO ABAD, and 

17 · MELE SAAVEDRA, 

18 shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7), all 

19 right, title and interest in property, real and personal, that constitutes or is derived from, directly 

20 or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the commission of the offense, including but not 

21 limited to a sum of money equal to the gross proceeds obtained as a result of the offense. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

43. If any of the property, as a result ofany act or omission of the defendants: 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

has been substantially diminished in value; or 

has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 

difficulty, 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 10 
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1 the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to Title 

2 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 

3 982(b)(I). 

4 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(7), 1347, 1349; Title 28, 

5 United States Code, Section 2461; and Rule 32.2 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

DATED: 

~rniJ.w lo/, ').0/3 

13 MELINDAHAAG 
United States Attorney 

14 

15 

16 J. DOUGLAS WILSON 
Chief, Criminal Division 

17 

A TRUE BILL 

18 (Approved as to form: D.2,__µ [\ q U ~ JJh. 
. AUSA Demse Marie arton 

19 AUSA Randy Luskey 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 11 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of California 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
v. 

) JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
) 

Mele Matta Saavedra ) USDC Case Number: CR-12-00054-005 JSW 
) BOP Case Number: DCAN4 l2CR00054-005 
) USM Number: 16890-1 l l 
) Defendant's Attorney: Harris Bruce Taback 

THE DEFENDANT: 
p- pleaded guilty to count(s): l through 3 and 6 through 9 of the Superseding Indictment 

r pleaded nolo contendere to count(s): which was accepted by the court. 

r was found guilty on count(s): after a plea ofnot guilty. 

The defendant is adiudicated ! uiltv of these offenses: 
Title & Section Nature of Offense Offense Ended 
18 u.s.c. § 1349 Conspiracy to Co1nmit Health Care Fraud 7/26/20! I 
18 u.s.c. § 371 Conspiracy to Solicit and Receive Healtl1 Care Kickbacks 7/26/2011 
18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2 Health Care Fraud, Aiding and Abetting 7/22/2011 

Count 
l 
2 
3, 6-9 .. 

The defendant 1s sentenced as provided 111pages2 through _5_ ofth1s1udg1nent. The sentence 1s imposed pursuant to the Sentencing 
Reform Act of 1984. " 

r The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s): ----

r Count(s) is/are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, 
residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered 
to pay restitution, the defendant must notify the cou1t and United States attorney of 1naterial changes in econon1ic circumstances. 

8/l2f.t014 

8/21/2014 
Date 
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DEFENDANT: Mele Matta Saavedra 
CASE NUMBER: CR-12-00054-005 JSW 

Judgment - Page 2 of 5 

PROBATIOt'i 

The defendant is hereby sentenced to probation for a term of: Three (3) years. This tenn consists of three years on each of Counts 1 
through 3 and 6 through 9. all such terms to run concurrently. 

The defendant shall not co1n1nit another federal. state or local crime. 

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled 
substance. The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of placement on probation and at least two periodic drug tests 
thereafter, as determined by the cou1i. 

p- The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the cou1t's determination that the defendant poses a low risk of future 
substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.} 

p- The defendant shall not possess a firearm, an1munition, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Check, if 
p- The.defe~dant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

r The defendant shall comply with the requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.C. § 16901, et 
seq.) as directed by the probation officer, the Bureau of Prisons, or any state sex offender registration agency in which he or she 
resides, works, is a student, or was convicted of a qualifying offense. (Check, if applicable.) 

r The defendant shall paiticipate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Check, if applicable.) 

l) 
2) 

3) 

4) 
5) 

6) 
7) 

8) 
9) 

10) 

11) 

12) 

13) 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

The defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the pennission of the court or probation officer; 
The defendant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete written report within the first five 
days of each month; 
The defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation 
officer; ' 
The defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other fa1nily responsibilities; 
The defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or 
other acceptable reasons; 
The defendant shall notify the -probation officer at least ten days prior to any change in residence or e1nployment; 
The defendant shall refrain fro1n excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any 
controlled substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician; 
The defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are iJlegally sold, used, distributed, or administered; 
The defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity and shall not associate with any person 
convicted of a felony, unless granted pennission to do so by the probation officer; 
The defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit hiin or her at any time at ho1ne or elsewhere and shall pennit 
confiscation of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer; 
The defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-two hours of being arrested or questioned by a law 
enforcement officer; 
The defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without 
the permission of the court; and · 
As directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks that may be occasioned by the 
defendant's crin1inal record or personal history or characteristics and shall permit the probation officer to make such 
notifications and to confirm the defendant's compliance with such notification requirement. 



( ( 
Case 4:12-cr-00054-JSW Document 675 Filed 08/21/14 Page 3 of 5 

AO 2458 (Rev. AO 09/11-CAN 03/14) Judgment in Criminal Case 
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1. The defendant shall participate in a mental health treatment program, as directed by the probation 
officer. The defendant is to pay part or all cost of this treatment, at an. amount not to exceed the cost of 
treatment, as deemed appropriate by the probation officer. Payments shall never exceed the total cost of 
mental health counseling. The actual co-payment schedule shall be determined by the probation officer. 

2. The defendant shall pay any restitution and special assessment that is imposed by this judgment and that 
remains unpaid at the commencement of the term of.supervised release. 

3. The defendant shall not open any new lines of credit and/or incur new debt without the prior permission 
of the probation officer. 

4. The defendant shall provide the probation officer with access to any financial information, including tax 
returns, and shall authorize the probation officer to conduct credit checks and obtain copies of income 
tax returns. 

5. The defendant shall submit to a search of her person, residence, office, vehicle, or any property under 
her control to a search. Such a search shall be conducted by a United States Probation Officer or any 
federal, state or local law enforcement officer at any time with or without suspicion. Failure to submit to 
such a search may be grounds for revocation; the defendant shall warn any residents that the premises 
may be subject to searches. 

6. The defendant shall perform 500 hours of community service as directed by the probation officer. 

7. The defendant shall not have contact with any codefendant in this case, namely Patrick Sogbein, 
Eduardo Abad, Edna Calaustro, and Adebola Adebimpe. 

8. The defendant shall comply with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement and, if deported, not reenter the United States without the express consent of the Secreiary 
of the Department of Homeland Security. Upon any reentry into the United States during the period of 
court ordered supervision, the defendant shall report to the nearest U.S. Probation Office within 72 
hours. 

9. The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. 

I 0. The defendant shall not own or possess any firearms, ammunition, destructive devices, or other 
dangerous weapons. 
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The defendant must pay the total criminal monetaiy penalties under the schedule of payments. 

Assessment 
TOTALS $ 700 

Fine 
Waived 

Restitution 
$ 275,338 

r The determination of restitution is deferred until-----· AnAmended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be 
entered after such detennination. 

p- The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned pay1nent, unless specified 
otherwise in the priority oroer or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all 
nonfederal victims must be paid before the United States is paid. 

Name of Payee Total Loss • Restitution Ordered Pi.·iority or Percentage 
Medicare; Attn: Veronica $446,953 $275,338 
Moore; CMS, Division of 
Accounting; PO BOX 7520; 
Baltimore, MD 21207-0520 

. 

TOTALS $446,953.00 $275,338.00 

p- Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement$ $275,338 . 

[! The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of 1nore than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 
the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(!). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be 
subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

r The court detennined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

r the interest requirement is waived for the fine/restitution. 

r the interest requirement is waived for the fine/restitution is modified as follows: 

•Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, ~ lOA, and l l3A of Title 18 for offenses committed on orafier September 13, 1994, but 
before April 23, 1996. 
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Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, pay1nent of the total criminal 1nonetary penalties is due as follows+: 

A F Lump sum payment of __ $276,038 _______ due immediately, balance due 

r 
F 

not later than _____ , or 

in accordance with F c, r D, or r E, and/or I F below); or 

B I Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with IC, I D, or IF below); or 

C F Payment in equal monthly (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of at least $100 over a period of3 years (e.g., 
months or years), to commence 60 days (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D I Payment in equal (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of over a period of 
_____ (e.g., months or years), to commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release fro1n imprisonment to a 
term of supervision; or 

E r Pay1nent during the tenn of supervised release will con1mence within (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from 
itnprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F r Special instructions regarding the paytnent of critninal monetary penalties: 

Unless the cou1t has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment itnposes imprisonment, payment of crin1inal moneta1y penalties is 
due during hnprisonment. All critninal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' 
In1nate Financial Responsibility Progrmn, are made to the clerk of the cou1t. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all pay1nents previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

~-Joint and Several 

Case Number • Total Amount Joint and Several Corresponding Payee, 
Defendant and Co-Defendant Names Amount 
(includin2 defendant number) 
12CR00054-002/Adebola Adebimpe $1,019,937 $275,338 Medicare 

l 2CR00054-00 !/Patrick Sogbein $1,577,426 $275,338 Medicare 
12CR00054-004/Eduardo Abad $100,000 $100,000 Medicare 
12CR00054-003/Edna Calaustro $1,577,426 $275,338 Medicare 

I The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

r The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): -----

F The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

$275,338, which is joint and several with all the co-defendants. 

if appropriate 

I The Court gives notice that this case involves other defendants who may be held jointly and severally liable for payment of all or 
part of the restitution ordered herein and 1nay order such pay1nent in the future, but such future orders do not affect the 
defendant's responsibility for the full ainount of the restitution ordered. 

•Payments shall be applied in the following order: (I) assessment, (2} restitution principal, (3} restitution interest, (4) fine principal, 
(5) fine intcrcsl, (6) community restitution, (7) penalties, and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court costs. 


